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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to the City Council Finance Committee

          4  hearing. My name is David Weprin, and I'm chair of

          5  the Finance Committee. On the left, usually sitting

          6  right next to me, is our Majority Leader, Joel

          7  Rivera. He looks like he wants to make a quick

          8  get-away.

          9                 Next to him is Council Member Bill

         10  DeBlasio from Brooklyn, Council Member Mike McMahon

         11  from Staten Island, Council Member Robert Jackson

         12  from Manhattan, Council Member Gale Brewer from

         13  Manhattan, and on my immediate right is the Council

         14  to the Finance Committee Jim Caras. I want to

         15  graduate all my colleagues for their substantial

         16  re-elections, and looking forward to working with

         17  them for another two years.

         18                 Good morning, and welcome to this

         19  meeting of the City Council Finance Committee. Today

         20  we will consider legislation to amend the local law

         21  establishing the absentee landlord surcharge.

         22                 As you may recall, the authority for

         23  the City to impose an absentee landlord surcharge,

         24  was part of the legislation adopted by the State

         25  Legislature this past May over the Governor's veto
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          2  to help the City close its budget gap and address

          3  the City's fiscal crisis.

          4                 This legislation was supported and

          5  lobbied for by both the Administration and the City

          6  Council.

          7                 In fact, the Mayor included $44

          8  million this surcharge would raise in both his

          9  preliminary and executive budget.

         10                 Then in June, the Council adopted

         11  legislation introduced at the request of the Mayor

         12  imposing the surcharge at a rate of 25 percent of

         13  the property taxes on Class 1 properties, where the

         14  owners were not the primary residents of the home,

         15  and where the owners derived rental income from

         16  tenants other than their children or parents.

         17                 The surcharge law provided that those

         18  Class 1 homeowners who qualified for the STAR

         19  Property Tax Exemption would be deemed exempt from

         20  the surcharge, because to qualify for STAR a home

         21  must be the owner's primary residence.

         22                 As you know, the Council was not

         23  eager to oppose additional taxes on any of our

         24  residents. We fought hard to lower the property tax

         25  increase originally proposed by the Mayor and did so
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          2  by 30 percent.

          3                 However, it seemed reasonable to most

          4  of us that since we knew there was a group of Class

          5  1 property owners in the City that were taking

          6  advantage of a lower property tax rate designed to

          7  encourage homeownership, but who were using their

          8  Class 1 properties for commercial purposes, these

          9  landlords pay a surcharge.

         10                 We set the surcharge at a level that

         11  would not even bring these property owners to the

         12  level of taxes paid by co-op and condo owners, much

         13  less anywhere near the level paid by other

         14  landlords.

         15                 Moreover, since this surcharge would

         16  not be owed by any homeowner whose Class 1 property

         17  was their primary residence, we recognize that the

         18  surcharge legislation would actually have the

         19  positive effect of lowering property taxes for tens

         20  of thousands of Class 1 homeowners who actually do

         21  live in their homes but have never applied for the

         22  STAR exemption.

         23                 The STAR exemption entitles the

         24  average homeowner to about $300 off on their tax

         25  bill and is paid for by the State.
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          2                 We estimate that City homeowners who

          3  fail to apply for this exemption, are losing out on

          4  almost $40 million each year. Unfortunately,

          5  although the Administration began counting on the

          6  revenue to be brought in by the surcharge almost a

          7  year ago, very little outreach to get homeowners

          8  signed up for STAR and therefore off the absentee

          9  landlord list was done before the last several

         10  weeks.

         11                 In fact, until two weeks ago, a

         12  homeowner could not even get a STAR application off

         13  the Department's website.

         14                 Consequently, the rate of

         15  participation in the STAR program is still low, and

         16  this leaves open the possibilities that many

         17  homeowners who are not absentee landlords would have

         18  to pay the surcharge and then try to obtain a credit

         19  or a refund.

         20                 We do not intend to let this happen.

         21  However, we also did not intend to repeal the

         22  surcharge. While we would like to be able to roll

         23  back the taxes necessitated by the fiscal crisis, it

         24  seems to me that to the extent we have additional

         25  revenue, we should begin with the low-income senior
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          2  home owners or property owners in general, not with

          3  a group of landlords who have been lucky enough to

          4  make money off of a lower property tax rate designed

          5  to encourage homeownership.

          6                 So, today we will consider

          7  legislation that would amend the Local Law

          8  establishing the surcharge. The preconsidered intro

          9  before you today would require the Department of

         10  Finance to follow a specific certification process

         11  for Fiscal 2004, the first year in which a surcharge

         12  is composed, prior to billing property owners for

         13  the surcharge.

         14                 The Department would have to send a

         15  simple certification from that, need to be no more

         16  than a few checkboxes or a yes or no response box,

         17  and a signature space to all Class 1 property owners

         18  from whom it does not already have proof they are

         19  not subject to the surcharge.

         20                 These certifications would have to be

         21  sent both prior to the billing for the surcharge, as

         22  well as within the actual bill for the surcharge, so

         23  that homeowners billed directly by the Department

         24  could remit the certification form instead of the

         25  payment.
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          2                 Since mortgage escrow agents pay the

          3  real property taxes for many Class 1 homeowners,

          4  these agents would be required to send out to their

          5  customers, the same simple certification checklist

          6  in the bills or billing statements, so that this

          7  process could be accomplished, Department of Finance

          8  would be required to delay billing of any Class 1

          9  property owners for the surcharge until March 1st,

         10  2004 at the earliest.

         11                 We will now hear from the

         12  Commissioner of Finance of the City of New York,

         13  Martha Stark.

         14                 Welcome, Commissioner Stark. It's

         15  always a pleasure to have you before our Committee.

         16                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Thank you. It's a

         17  pleasure to be here. Let me just start by saying

         18  good morning to you and to the members here of the

         19  Finance Committee, and I want to thank you for

         20  inviting me to testify today about the absentee

         21  landlord surcharge.

         22                 I plan to cover three broad areas in

         23  my testimony.

         24                 First, as Mayor Bloomberg has said

         25  repeatedly over the last several days, the absentee
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          2  landlord surcharge was a terrible mistake that can

          3  only be corrected by immediately repealing the law.

          4                 Second, though we thought from the

          5  start that the absentee landlord surcharge was bad

          6  tax policy, from the moment that the law was adopted

          7  Finance has done everything in its power to

          8  implement the law fairly and accurately without any

          9  support or help from the City Council.

         10                 Finally, as you know, I have a lot of

         11  respect for this body, but the law proposed today

         12  does not address any of the fatal flaws in the

         13  original absentee landlord surcharge law and is

         14  unnecessary, heavy handed, will cause even more

         15  confusion and will jeopardize the $44 million that

         16  the Council hopes to generate.

         17                 The absentee landlord surcharge

         18  should be repealed because it will have a

         19  disproportionate impact on middle and low-income

         20  communities with high minority and immigrant

         21  populations.

         22                 The purported rationale for charging

         23  absentee owners of one, two and three-family homes

         24  is flawed and a surcharge is difficult to administer

         25  fairly.
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          2                 It is clear from a review of our

          3  records that most of the properties that would be

          4  liable for the absentee landlord surcharge are in

          5  Queens and Brooklyn neighborhoods with a significant

          6  number of minorities and immigrants.

          7                 It's no coincidence that the

          8  neighborhoods with absentee landlords also have the

          9  highest poverty rate, severe overcrowding and among

         10  the highest rent burdens.

         11                 To illustrate where the absentee

         12  landlord surcharge will have the greatest impact, we

         13  work with the Department of Housing Preservation and

         14  Development to develop several maps for you. And

         15  those maps are here in black and white but we'll

         16  actually produce for you the maps in color. On a

         17  screen behind me, there are basically, if you look

         18  at one by Council district, and, again, apologize if

         19  you can't see exactly where, you will see that most

         20  of the properties in red are in the Brooklyn and

         21  Queens area, very, very little in Manhattan.

         22                 If you go to the second chart,

         23  another cut that we wanted to do on this data was to

         24  take a look at the maps by poverty rate, and what

         25  you'll see in the poverty rate maps is that there is
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          2  a direct correlation with people living below the

          3  poverty rates, and the absentee landlord surcharge.

          4                 Mostly, again, Manhattan, very low

          5  poverty rate very low correlation with those people

          6  who will be liable for the surcharge.

          7                 The third map actually takes a look

          8  at the absentee landlord surcharge by immigrant

          9  population. Again, the dark colored maps that you'll

         10  see will show, again, direct correlation between

         11  those neighborhoods with a very high immigrant

         12  population and where the absentee landlord

         13  surcharge, at least based on our records, are, where

         14  they are.

         15                 The last map, as this is actually

         16  loading a little bit more slowly than we'd like, and

         17  I apologize for that, is the fourth map is one on

         18  overcrowding, and, again, direct correlation between

         19  the properties that will be liable for the surcharge

         20  and areas that based on census data are overcrowded.

         21                 The IBO report of August 5th, 2003,

         22  which I've attached to this testimony, confirms

         23  these findings. It found that the Council's estimate

         24  of the total number of absentee landlords, 75,000,

         25  is probably a very low estimate.
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          2                 The Council based its estimate on

          3  1999 housing and vacancy survey data, but data from

          4  the 2002 housing and vacancy survey shows that there

          5  might be approximately 103,000 absentee landlords,

          6  and the 2000 census indicates that there may be as

          7  many as 130,000 absentee landlords, based on the

          8  IBO's analysis of that data.

          9                 That's almost, as you know, double

         10  the Council's estimate.

         11                 As a result of this data, we can

         12  expect that when a surcharge hits, tenants in these

         13  neighborhoods will be forced to either pay entire

         14  rents because owners are going to pass along the

         15  cost of the surcharge, so tenants with already high

         16  and unprotected rents will either be forced to move

         17  or they'll take on roommates to help defray the

         18  higher costs, which could lead to even more

         19  overcrowding.

         20                 One of the state rationales as I

         21  understand it for the surcharge is to level the tax

         22  burden between one, two and three-family homes and

         23  four to six-unit apartment buildings which are

         24  designated tax Class 2A and seem to pay taxes at a

         25  higher rate.
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          2                 However, the difference in median

          3  effective tax rates of these two kinds of properties

          4  is less than 20 percent, and moreover, because of

          5  the complexities in the City's property tax laws,

          6  our analysis reveals significant variation by

          7  neighborhood.

          8                 In some cases the effective tax rate

          9  on two- to three-family homes is actually higher

         10  than it is on Class 2A properties, that's because in

         11  part we value Class 1 properties based on sales but

         12  value most Class 2 properties using an income

         13  approach. A lot of it is also dictated by when the

         14  property basically received its cap, six percent and

         15  eight percent, and so there's really tremendous

         16  variation.

         17                 For example, in Astoria, the

         18  effective tax rate on 2A properties is 7.4 percent

         19  less than the rate paid by two- to three-family

         20  homes. Bensonhurst is another neighborhood where

         21  two- to three-family homes pay a higher effective

         22  tax rate. In these neighborhoods, the surcharge will

         23  have the unintended effect of widening the tax gap

         24  between two- to three-family homes in Class 2A

         25  properties.
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          2                 The surcharge law also makes a

          3  distinction between three- and four-family homes

          4  that is arbitrary. Another sign of not great tax

          5  policy. Why should someone who rents a four-family

          6  home escape a 25 percent surcharge, especially since

          7  the median sales prices of three- and four-family

          8  homes have been virtually identical in recent years.

          9                 An argument has been made that

         10  absentee landlords, because they do not live in the

         11  houses they own, do not maintain the properties as

         12  well as other owners, but if that were true,

         13  increasing the tax burden on these owners will

         14  certainly discourage rather than encourage owners to

         15  spend money on maintenance. And it will almost

         16  certainly encourage owners to increase their rents.

         17                 The impact that the surcharge will

         18  have on these neighborhoods is reason enough to

         19  repeal the law. The fact that it is difficult to

         20  verify what property owners tells us is another

         21  reason.

         22                 The Finance Department has no reason

         23  to document information about who resides in the

         24  home of a property owner, and whether it's the

         25  owners primary residence.
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          2                 We have spoken with several financial

          3  institutions about whether their records indicate

          4  whether an owner resides in a home that the bank

          5  finances, and according to these institutions, they

          6  pay some attention to this information at the time

          7  of the application for a mortgage to determine the

          8  appropriate downpayment and mortgage rate, but they

          9  have no way of telling whether the owner continues

         10  to occupy the home as their primary residence.

         11                 If a home is not the owner's primary

         12  residence, the absentee landlord surcharge law

         13  exempts owners if the house is occupied by the

         14  owner's mother, father, son and daughter, even if

         15  they pay rent; the house is vacant; or the house is

         16  occupied by someone other than the owner's mother,

         17  father, son or daughter but that occupant does not

         18  pay any rent.

         19                 While primary residency is difficult

         20  to verify, Finance can at least randomly compare a

         21  claim of primary residency with an owner's personal

         22  income tax returns. Though the definition of

         23  residency for income tax purposes is not the same as

         24  in the absentee landlord surcharge law, we can at

         25  least ensure that owners who claim that their
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          2  property that they own is their primary residence to

          3  avoid the surcharge are filing New York City

          4  resident income returns.

          5                 There is virtually no way to verify

          6  whether an owner rents to his mother, father, son or

          7  daughter, without questioning neighbors that could

          8  verify it. The problem of course is that Finance has

          9  no way of verifying any of the information that

         10  owners provide, particularly on the exclusion forms

         11  and particularly on the check-off that you propose

         12  in this law.

         13                 How really are we supposed to

         14  determine whether someone's mother lives in an

         15  owners house as opposed to a stepmother?

         16                 The latter scenario the owner is

         17  considered an absentee landlord, who is liable for

         18  the surcharge.

         19                 How does one prove that his tenant is

         20  his mother? Should we collect birth certificates?

         21  And how would Finance verify that information short

         22  of sending out people to question an owner's

         23  neighbors.

         24                 Verifying rental income is also

         25  difficult, because many homeowners do not reflect
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          2  rental income on their tax returns, unless it's

          3  beneficial to them.

          4                 Short of spying on people, then there

          5  is no way for Finance to verify that someone is

          6  getting income from their Class 1 property.

          7                 The Finance Department collects $16

          8  billion in revenue each year, and we don't really

          9  have the time or the resources to spy on people to

         10  collect the $44 million that the Council expects to

         11  gain from the absentee landlord surcharge.

         12                 For these reasons, I strongly urge

         13  the Committee to not apply a band-aid to this

         14  problem and to repeal the surcharge all together.

         15                 Despite the difficulty identifying

         16  absentee landlords, we respect and follow the law.

         17                 Finance has been making every effort

         18  to implement absentee landlord surcharge, and to

         19  avoid sending bills to owners who tell us that they

         20  are not absentee landlords. And we've done that from

         21  the moment that the State gave the authorizing

         22  legislation to the City to implement this law.

         23                 Here's what we've done without any

         24  assistance from the Council. We reduced the

         25  potential list of absentee landlords from
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          2  approximately 300,000 to about 200,000 homeowners.

          3  How did we do this? In August we mailed personalized

          4  applications to homeowners who may have been

          5  eligible for STAR. That was after we did a 1 million

          6  property tax bill in July and it was the earliest

          7  time that we could do that.

          8                 We streamlined the application

          9  process, eliminating the preliminary application so

         10  that the forms could be made available on our

         11  website and in Council district offices. In

         12  September and October our staff spread the word

         13  about STAR and a surcharge at several community

         14  meetings, including a session for Council members

         15  and staff attended by Speaker Miller on September

         16  30th.

         17                 On September 25th we issued a press

         18  release urging homeowners to sign up for STAR or to

         19  complete the exclusion forms, and this past Sunday

         20  and Monday Finance spent more than $250,000 on

         21  advertisements in the Post, the News, the Times,

         22  Newsday, and the Staten Island Advance urging people

         23  to avoid the surcharge if they can.

         24                 The ads included the STAR, and

         25  exclusion applications and directed homeowners to a
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          2  special website, www.nyc.gov/star, where they can

          3  see if their property is on the zip code-sorted list

          4  of those that may be billed the absentee landlord

          5  surcharge.

          6                 In addition, we've been working with

          7  mortgage service companies and New York's major

          8  banks to send another notice to taxpayers urging

          9  them to enroll in STAR or fill out the exclusion

         10  form.

         11                 By the way, the surcharge is a bit of

         12  a nightmare for banks, which pay property tax on

         13  behalf of about two-thirds of the City's homeowners

         14  and almost 55 percent of the possible absentee

         15  landlords, because they have not escrowed from

         16  owners to pay the surcharge. That means the

         17  surcharge will come out of the bank's reserve, which

         18  adversely affects lending in neighborhoods.

         19                 Under Mayor Bloomberg, and as a

         20  result of these efforts, the Finance Department has

         21  had unprecedented success enrolling homeowners in

         22  the STAR program.

         23                 Since August, more than 35,000

         24  homeowners have applied, an amazing number in such a

         25  short period of time.
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          2                 We have also encouraged owners of

          3  homes if they do not occupy, to apply for an

          4  exclusion from the absentee landlord surcharge that

          5  under the law they do not qualify as absentee

          6  landlords.

          7                 In addition to the STAR applications,

          8  Finance has also received about 1,500 exclusion

          9  forms. All of these applications will be entered

         10  into our property records and removed from the

         11  surcharge billing before the bills are sent later

         12  this month if the law is not repealed.

         13                 Finance has also removed several

         14  thousand other properties from the surcharge bill

         15  list on policy grounds and based on our

         16  understanding of the intent of the law. These

         17  include properties that receive 421-B exemptions,

         18  because by law they must be owner occupied, and they

         19  are not entitled to STAR. STAR specifically includes

         20  421-B properties because they're already getting an

         21  exemption.

         22                 Properties interestingly owned by

         23  churches and other houses of worship, which we did

         24  not believe were intended to be defined as absentee

         25  landlord properties, but where it would be
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          2  impossible for the church to actually occupy the

          3  house.

          4                 Properties that because the market

          5  value is so low, below $10,000, we believe must be

          6  vacant and therefore ineligible for the surcharge,

          7  and we also exempted properties that receive

          8  seniors' and veterans' exemptions.

          9                 I am disappointed that the City

         10  Council has not contributed very much to our efforts

         11  to help people avoid the surcharge. Back in July we

         12  met with Council staff to plan a massive outreach

         13  campaign with Council members similar to our

         14  successful outreach last year during the months

         15  leading up to the lien sale. I think that many of

         16  you in this room know firsthand how seriously I

         17  value such outreach efforts.

         18                 I attended several meetings

         19  personally last spring and together we were able to

         20  help a lot of homeowners avoid the lien sale.

         21                 I was hoping to repeat the success

         22  this fall, but your staff never got back to us to

         23  plan the outreach meetings.

         24                 Because we realized that some owners

         25  may be intimidated by the Department of Finance, we
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          2  sought your help. We hoped you would send a friendly

          3  note to your constituents. And I am disappointed

          4  that the Council has failed to send out the mailing

          5  that we had prepared for each individual Council

          6  member.

          7                 Early last month we broke the

          8  absentee landlord list down by Council district so

          9  that you and your colleagues could help us make sure

         10  that owners entitled to STAR or the exclusion signed

         11  the proper forms. Unfortunately, it is our

         12  understanding this mailing has not gone out, but the

         13  data, let me just say, is very instructive.

         14                 The district with the most absentee

         15  landlords is in Council Member Comrie's district in

         16  Queens, with more than 13,000. The next highest

         17  potential absentee landlord district is Council

         18  Member Jennings, district with almost 11,000,

         19  followed by Council Member Fidler's district with

         20  almost 10,000.

         21                 Of course, the Council districts with

         22  the fewest potential absentee landlords are in

         23  Manhattan. Council Member Gerson has just 27 and

         24  Speaker Miller's district is third and includes just

         25  117.
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          2                 We delivered the sorted property

          3  information on October 10th, but were subsequently

          4  told that the mailing would not hit the streets

          5  until the middle of this month. We even offered to

          6  pay for the mailing.

          7                 I am extremely proud of Finance's

          8  efforts to help New Yorkers avoid the surcharge if

          9  they are not required to pay it.

         10                 And despite these efforts, however,

         11  we know that there are probably still thousands of

         12  homeowners who are scheduled to be billed the

         13  surcharge but are not by the legal definition

         14  absentee landlords.

         15                 So, because we tried to do all that

         16  we could for each owner who might not be liable for

         17  the surcharge, we think the next step is to issue a

         18  bill, in part because owners respond to that.

         19  Sometimes they don't understand theoretically what's

         20  going to go on with the surcharge, but if they see

         21  the bill in black and white, they're most likely to

         22  respond.

         23                 Since we are required already to bill

         24  all property owners later this month, we believe

         25  that including the absentee landlord surcharge in
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          2  this bill will be the final wake-up call for owners.

          3                 However, we drafted the rules that

          4  allow us to accept either a STAR application or an

          5  exclusion form until March 15th, 2004, because we

          6  wanted to give homeowners one final chance to avoid

          7  paying a surcharge they may not own -- they may not

          8  owe.

          9                 Homeowners who pay taxes through

         10  their mortgages will receive the forms at their

         11  homes, along with a dummy copy of their bills, which

         12  will have the amount due for the surcharge clearly

         13  marked.

         14                 These bills, including the surcharge,

         15  will be payable by January 1st, 2004, the start of

         16  the third quarter and second half of Fiscal Year

         17  2004.

         18                 However, homeowners who do not

         19  believe that they are absentee landlords will still

         20  have two options: They can pay the bill by January

         21  1st, 2004, minus the surcharge, mail either a

         22  completed STAR or exclusion form before March 15th,

         23  2004. Or they can pay, including the surcharge, and

         24  mail either a completed STAR exclusion form before

         25  March 15th, 2004, the last day that Finance will
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          2  accept these forms for the Fiscal Year 2004

          3  surcharge.

          4                 If the application is accepted, the

          5  surcharge amount will either be rolled over toward

          6  the next payment or refunded.

          7                 The Council's proposed legislation

          8  will not change the process, and will in fact create

          9  more hardship for absentee landlords and add

         10  confusion to the process.

         11                 The proposals main requirement that

         12  Finance delay the surcharge billing until next March

         13  is unnecessary because Finance will accept STAR and

         14  exclusion forms until March 15th. The only practical

         15  effect will be to force absentee landlords to pay

         16  the entire 25 percent surcharge at once, instead of

         17  spreading it out over two payments, hitting these

         18  mostly middle class homeowners with the full-year

         19  surcharge in one bill which we think would be really

         20  unfair.  To illustrate the point, take an absentee

         21  landlord who pays $2,000 per year in property taxes,

         22  about the average for Class 1 homes. The surcharge

         23  amount for his property would be $500 or 25 percent

         24  of $2,000. If he makes quarterly payments, his

         25  fourth quarter bill will be due April 1st, 2001 will
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          2  already be $500, but now will have to pay the entire

          3  25 percent surcharge in April 1st as well, another

          4  $500. In effect his bill for April will be double.

          5                 It's bad enough that this homeowner

          6  may have to pay the surcharge, the least we can do

          7  is to spread it out over two payments.

          8                 I have heard the argument that this

          9  inconvenience for absentee landlords is worth it, if

         10  Finance has more time to identify who really is an

         11  absentee landlord. But that's not the case because

         12  we are already giving homeowners until March 15th to

         13  file a STAR or exclusion application with us.

         14                 There are several other problems with

         15  the Council's proposed legislation. It would require

         16  a certification with response boxes concerning

         17  primary residence, relationship of residence and

         18  rental income. The exclusion form already allows

         19  owners to submit that information to us in much the

         20  same format.

         21                 Division 2 of the proposal provides

         22  that in the first year the surcharge is imposed,

         23  Finance must mail certifications to all the owners

         24  of Class 1 properties where we do not already have

         25  proof concerning primary residency.
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          2                 And the legislation specifies that

          3  this is to be done at the time of the rebilling, or

          4  if the law is not passed by then within ten days of

          5  becoming law.

          6                 As I am sure you are aware, Finance's

          7  billing process requires a great deal of

          8  preparation. My staff meets on a regular basis well

          9  in advance of a billing to work out the programming

         10  details, and these providing of additional billing

         11  requirements in law actually makes it harder for

         12  Finance to meet the requirements.

         13                 The proposal also places for

         14  notification on the mortgage servicing companies who

         15  pay the real property taxes that are escrowed, even

         16  telling them that they need to use bold print.

         17                 Finance has enjoyed an incredibly

         18  positive working relationship, I would say the City

         19  has enjoyed a very positive working relationship

         20  with the mortgage servicing companies, and they have

         21  voluntarily been willing to help us in our outreach

         22  efforts.

         23                 By imposing these statutory

         24  requirements on them, I am concerned that this will

         25  make it more difficult for banks to make home loans
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          2  in neighborhoods where there are high concentrations

          3  of homeowners targeted as absentee landlords.

          4                 Finally, I guess I'd like to comment

          5  on Subdivision 4 which provides that no rule can

          6  limit a property owner's rights to get a refund or

          7  credit.

          8                 If the owner would not have been

          9  subject to the surcharge had the certification been

         10  timely filed. While I certainly do not want to

         11  collect the surcharge from owners who should not

         12  have to pay, this provision could be interpreted to

         13  mean that owners who pay would have six years from

         14  the date of overpayment to get a refund, and I'm not

         15  sure if that means six years also to provide the

         16  proof.

         17                 Administratively this will be not

         18  really manageable. I think it's important to do

         19  outreach and to ensure that those who are not

         20  required to pay or not charge.

         21                 But there must be some limit to the

         22  refund for administrative purposes.

         23                 A few days ago Speaker Miller said

         24  that sending real estate bills is not rocket

         25  science. Indeed, tax administration is not rocket
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          2  science, but it does require fairness and the

          3  ability to verify what taxpayers tells us.

          4                 Finance has expended a tremendous

          5  amount of effort, expense, and, yes, thought, into

          6  how to overcome the inherent problems with this

          7  surcharge law.

          8                 We've done the best that could be

          9  done under the circumstances, despite receiving

         10  virtually no help from the City Council.

         11                 I really do urge the Council to

         12  repeal the absentee landlord surcharge law. However,

         13  if the Council is not persuaded to repeal the law,

         14  then we should leave the law as it is. This proposed

         15  amendment is not value added, and will instead make

         16  a bad law even worse, and I thank you for your time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         18  by a number of my colleagues since the last round of

         19  introductions.

         20                 We have Council Member Eva Moskowitz

         21  from Manhattan; Council Member Simcha Felder from

         22  Brooklyn; Council Member Madeline Provenzano from

         23  the Bronx; Council Member Leroy Comrie from Queens,

         24  and Majority Whip; Council Member Lew Fidler from

         25  Brooklyn; Council Member Dennis Gallagher from
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          2  Queens; and Council Member Tracy Boyland from

          3  Brooklyn.

          4                 Commissioner, the Council proposed a

          5  number of tax policy proposals in our Fiscal 2003

          6  Preliminary Budget Response, yet the absentee

          7  landlord surcharge was the only one that the

          8  Administration included in the Preliminary 2004

          9  budget, as well as the Executive Budget later on.

         10                 If the Administration is so opposed

         11  to this tax, why was it the one suggestion out of

         12  numerous initiatives that the Mayor embraced in this

         13  budget proposal?

         14                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I believe that at

         15  the time the Mayor was considering lots of options,

         16  as you know it was a very difficult budget year, the

         17  Council was incredibly courageous about the 18 and a

         18  half percent property tax that was necessary and

         19  many of your people I think and staff really

         20  proposed this $44 million. We had cautioned your

         21  staff, as well as some others, about the difficulty

         22  in administering this law.

         23                 I think one of the things that we're

         24  very mindful of is that we were fortunate enough to

         25  have a little bit of extra money last year and the
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          2  need for this $44 million may not be as great as it

          3  was at the time.

          4                 This has been a problematic law from

          5  the start. We actually talked about this with your

          6  staff. It's very difficult, as I said, to verify

          7  tax, and I think that verify whether or not people

          8  live there, and, you know, we went along with it and

          9  in an attempt to really, you know, accommodate some

         10  of what the Council wanted to do, but in

         11  implementing the law it's become increasingly clear

         12  how difficult this is to do.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: All right. I

         14  assume since you are requesting a repeal, you have

         15  no objection to delaying sending out the bill, March

         16  1st, 2004?

         17                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I actually would

         18  say that I have lots of problems with delaying

         19  sending out the bills in March.

         20                 There's a couple of reasons why.

         21  First, we've done significant mailings and people

         22  have not responded. And as I said, one of the things

         23  that we do know is that when people actually see the

         24  impact they do respond. I think it would be better

         25  for us to send the bills now, because it gives

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  people enough time to react, to get back with us,

          3  you know, before actually the holiday season and the

          4  like. So, we would like to send the bills now. We

          5  have to do a rebilling already. I mean I think that

          6  you are planning to adopt the actual tax rates for

          7  Fiscal Year '04 in the next couple of weeks. It

          8  would be easier for the Department to do that one

          9  billing. If we bill again in March people will get

         10  incredibly confused by the bills, despite our best

         11  efforts to simplify them. It will be one more

         12  mailing from the Department of Finance, and let me

         13  tell you, they've received lots.

         14                 So, we'd love to repeal the law. We

         15  think that if we really are serious about trying to

         16  collect this absentee landlord surcharge, it will be

         17  in the City Council's and actually the absentee

         18  landlords and those not liable for the surcharge,

         19  receive a bill now to show the impact -- people, you

         20  know, again, we're very pleased that folks are

         21  coming forward. Lots of the press attention has

         22  helped. I just believe that it's in our best

         23  interest to do that billing now just so people see

         24  it. Remember, they won't actually have to pay it if

         25  they think they're not liable for the surcharge, but
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          2  I think it's one of the ways to get their attention.

          3  That's been at least our experience in the past.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, why

          5  wouldn't you just send a notice then with an

          6  intention to bill if they are an absentee landlord

          7  and allow them more time to respond before sending

          8  out the actual bills in March? Wouldn't that make a

          9  lot more sense, from the homeowner's point of view,

         10  that they get the notice before they actually get

         11  the bill?

         12                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Again, we've done

         13  notices to people. We sent out about STAR. We did,

         14  as you know, full-page ads, three-page ads in some

         15  of the major newspapers, full-page add in the New

         16  York Times.  We have done quite a bit of outreach,

         17  and, again, my concern is that until people see that

         18  the impact is actually on them, they see it in terms

         19  of here is what your bill is going to be, 25 percent

         20  more, they are hesitant to react.

         21                 And we believe that it's best to do

         22  it now. Again, coordinate in mailing, simpler

         23  mailing, and not sending another notice that will

         24  confuse people in March.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEPRIN: Well, except the
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          2  notices on the STAR you sent out didn't refer to the

          3  absentee landlord surcharge; isn't that correct?

          4                 COMMISSIONER STARK: The first mailing

          5  that we did on STAR did not say this was about the

          6  absentee landlord surcharge. That was in part

          7  because when we met with your staff, they asked us

          8  not to scare people. So, I mean, one of the things

          9  that's most frustrating for us is that at the

         10  direction of your staff, when we said we wanted to

         11  put in you might have to pay the absentee landlord

         12  surcharge, we were asked not to do that. I'm not

         13  going to speculate on the reasons for why that was

         14  done, but we accommodated that request because we

         15  actually wanted to do something that the Council

         16  asked us to do.

         17                 The New York Times ad and all of the

         18  other ads make clear the link between the absentee

         19  landlord surcharge, and, you know, filling out and

         20  completing STAR, and your mailing would have made

         21  clear that link about STAR. So, I find it a little

         22  bit frustrating that you would now say we didn't put

         23  in the absentee landlord surcharge when we were

         24  specifically asked not to do that.

         25                 Yes, but that's why we're requesting
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          2  you can do it now and delay the billing, so the

          3  billing doesn't correspond with the notice.

          4                 Something else you said was very

          5  disturbing to me, and I know to a number of my

          6  colleagues, you talked about, you know, are we

          7  supposed to rely on the honor system? How do we know

          8  that if they check off, you know, that's their

          9  primary residence, if they really are or if they're

         10  renting to a parent or a child, how do we know? I

         11  mean, the same would apply to the tax policy on any

         12  issues. I mean, how do we know someone has children

         13  when they're claiming, you know, a child tax credit?

         14  I mean, I think it's been the tax policy of the City

         15  and State to rely on what, leave it up to the

         16  individual taxpayers to make that decision; why

         17  would this be any different?

         18                 COMMISSIONER STARK: That is so not

         19  exactly accurate.

         20                 The children's tax credit is tied to

         21  a Social Security number, which people are required

         22  to provide on their income tax returns. Income is

         23  reported by everybody's employees -- I mean

         24  employer, on a W2 form. Very easy matching. So that

         25  information does not rely on an honor system. There
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          2  are ways separate and apart from the information

          3  that's being provided by the taxpayer to verify that

          4  information.

          5                 In fact, it's how on audit we are

          6  able to often times increase taxes on people because

          7  they forgot to put in their 1099 government refund.

          8  We have mechanism for verifying the information

          9  that's provided, and on the children tax credit and

         10  in fact the earned income tax credit, we can go in

         11  separately and check with outside sources for that

         12  information.

         13                 So, it's not analogous to the

         14  absentee landlord surcharge, where we aren't able to

         15  actually verify who is actually living there. You

         16  actually asked us to do a negative, like do they

         17  report income? If they don't report income then

         18  they're not liable for the surcharge, when the

         19  incentive in the tax system is actually to not

         20  report that income.

         21                 So, the mechanisms for verifying this

         22  information are not publicly available sources, or

         23  sources that are available in tax administration.

         24                 Again, I do want to sort of highlight

         25  that the State is sort of cracking down on STAR,
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          2  felt like far too many jurisdictions had given out

          3  STAR willy-nilly. I think that it is safe to say

          4  that my exemption staff has done, we would survive

          5  an audit because we have made sure that the people

          6  who received STAR are really liable for STAR. The

          7  State has expended a lot of money on this and has

          8  started turning to auditing to make sure that we can

          9  actually verify that people are entitled to it.

         10                 For enhanced STAR they're allowing us

         11  to do matches, to make sure that the income

         12  requirements of 60 odd thousand dollars is being met

         13  by senior citizens. As I said in my testimony,

         14  primary residency is a little bit easier because we

         15  can do a match against the income tax returns, and

         16  that would be expected of us on the State side.

         17  Exemption programs are supposed to be administered

         18  as fairly as possible, and as stringently as

         19  possible, because it is about giving away tax

         20  revenues.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, since the

         22  Mayor included the revenue from the surcharge in his

         23  2004 Preliminary Budget in January, why did your

         24  Department not begin the STAR outreach until late

         25  August.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER STARK: We actually

          3  started changing the process for STAR long ago, but

          4  until the law was a law, we did not include it.

          5  There was budget negotiations going on. It was

          6  included in the Preliminary, it was included in the

          7  Executive. We started gearing up at that time, but

          8  you needed State legislation, it was not clear you

          9  would get the State legislation passed, and you also

         10  needed to adopt the local law. And the minute that

         11  that happened, we started with our outreach efforts.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The other issue

         13  that was a little disturbing was the STAR

         14  application process has been in effect since 1999,

         15  but I understand from staff that you didn't start

         16  positing the STAR applications on your website until

         17  two weeks ago; why is that?

         18                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I was not here in

         19  1999. In fact, I started in February of 2002.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Why didn't you

         21  just put the application on the website two weeks

         22  ago?

         23                 COMMISSIONER STARK: There are two

         24  reasons why the Exemption Unit did not include the

         25  STAR application on the website.
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          2                 The first and most important was that

          3  they found in processing STAR applications, many

          4  people were making mistakes, and the processing

          5  mistakes and time made it so that what they wanted

          6  to do was get a preliminary application where they

          7  prefilled the form with information about the

          8  borough, block and lot and the address and the

          9  ownership status.

         10                 It was actually early in my tenure

         11  here where I had a very strong, I would say,

         12  conversation with the Exemption Unit, about not

         13  requiring a preliminary application and actually

         14  trusting more that people could complete the form.

         15  We've been working on a form, especially in light of

         16  the absentee landlord surcharge, trying to simplify

         17  it. It was an incredibly long form, and in order to

         18  get it posted on the website. And it is posted there

         19  now, and we have made it available for elected

         20  officials to have in their office, but it came out

         21  of a genuine concern I would say on the part of the

         22  exemptions unit, they did not want to, they wanted

         23  to reduce the number of mistakes and again, STAR is

         24  a program that is paid by the State and needed to

         25  make sure that we were doing it appropriately.
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          2                 I'm pleased to say that it's on the

          3  website now. It's been in the newspaper, we can make

          4  forms available to you, had planned to make forms

          5  available to you to include in your mailing, but

          6  that's the mechanism. As soon as we were aware about

          7  how difficult it might be for people to get forms,

          8  we made it readily accessible.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, you also

         10  were a little concerned in your testimony about

         11  setting aside money for refunds to those that are

         12  living in their homes. Why is that any different,

         13  though, than the money that we set aside all the

         14  time? I believe we usually set aside around 200

         15  million or so every year for potential refunds; why

         16  would this be any different?

         17                 COMMISSIONER STARK: What we would

         18  like to do is make sure that if you are going to

         19  enact this law, that there is a time period, and

         20  that it would be no different than the refund period

         21  for other people. And they only have six years to

         22  claim a refund.

         23                 The difficulty with the absentee

         24  landlord surcharge is, in order to claim the refund,

         25  are they going to tell us that although they didn't
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          2  claim so three years ago they were indeed absentee

          3  landlords, really just leads to my concern about how

          4  will we verify that?

          5                 There typically is a limited period

          6  of time when people get to apply for a refund and/or

          7  to prove that they were in the status that would

          8  have exempted them from the property.

          9                 I don't know how we verify it

         10  currently. I think it would be incredibly difficult

         11  to verify three years from now someone's claim that

         12  in fact as of March 15, 2004, they were not an

         13  absentee landlord.

         14                 It's just difficult and we would like

         15  the same rules to apply for this program as actually

         16  applied for the senior and the veterans program. And

         17  if you don't let us know by March 15th, that you're

         18  senior, regardless of the fact that you are, you

         19  don't get the exemption for that year, you get it

         20  for future years.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: It's still

         22  disturbing to me and I really don't understand it,

         23  how you're willing to forego the potential revenue,

         24  because you say it's hard to administer, but now

         25  you're worried about people saying that they're not
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          2  absentee landlord when they might really be absentee

          3  landlord. So, take their word for it. I mean, for

          4  this particular purpose, just rely on what they're

          5  telling you, that they are not absentee landlords.

          6  So you forego a little bit of revenue, but --

          7                 COMMISSIONER STARK: So why don't we

          8  exempt everybody then? If you think that I should

          9  take everyone's word for it, why don't we exempt

         10  everyone?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Commissioner,

         12  Commissioner, I didn't finish saying what I was

         13  saying.

         14                 What I was saying was, you're willing

         15  to forego this particular revenue for this

         16  particular program because you say it's hard to

         17  enforce, what I'm saying to you is, rely on what

         18  they're telling you, and if it happens to be

         19  inaccurate, so you lose a small portion of that

         20  revenue, and that person can be prosecuted at a

         21  later date for lying on their tax return. But at

         22  least don't suggest repealing the whole thing

         23  because you can't rely on what they're telling you.

         24                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Again, sir, I

         25  don't think that the State would appreciate me

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  saying to them that we're going to just allow and

          3  accept what people are telling us when they're

          4  paying the cost of this program, and as I said, have

          5  already started initiating audits on this program.

          6                 We take seriously, as you have

          7  encouraged us to do in the past, the administration

          8  of exemption programs because it is really resources

          9  that would then be denied the City. So, you know,

         10  again, I'm equally concerned that you would suggest

         11  that we not actually do what we would do for any

         12  other exemption program to ensure that people are

         13  really entitled to the exemption, and we will do

         14  random audits to make sure that the information that

         15  they're providing is accurate. But I don't believe

         16  that it's an appropriate role for the tax

         17  administrator, especially for administering

         18  exemptions, to do that without taking that role

         19  seriously.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm not saying

         21  you should do audits. Really we welcome periodic

         22  audits. All I'm saying is that initially rely on

         23  their initial data. If you determine that there

         24  seems to be something funny about it, or something

         25  like anything else, or if you just do a random audit
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          2  and it happens to uncover that that person is

          3  misstating it, it shouldn't be treated any

          4  differently.

          5                 All I'm saying is that it seems to be

          6  a reasonable approach to ask, to rely on the

          7  information being given by the homeowner certainly

          8  in this case initially.

          9                 COMMISSIONER STARK: We might have to

         10  agree to disagree.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Fine.

         12                 A number of my colleagues have

         13  questions.

         14                 I will call upon the Council Member

         15  who represents the people you identified as having

         16  the largest number of absentee landlords in their

         17  district, one of them. Council Member Fidler was

         18  first. You're coming up.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And I'm

         20  willing to be, Commissioner, I probably also have

         21  the largest number of seniors living on fixed

         22  income, for whom we probably should be providing tax

         23  relief for as opposed to commercial landlords, who

         24  don't, probably don't live in my district, but

         25  they're renting out their properties and using them
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          2  and taking the advantage that we provide to

          3  one-family homeowners. So, thank you for pointing

          4  part of that out.

          5                 You know, Commissioner, in 22 months

          6  that I've been in office I don't think we've had

          7  coarse words, but we're going to have them now.

          8                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Okay.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Because I have

         10  never been more disappointed in the way the

         11  Administration has handled a new program than this

         12  one.

         13                 You used the word "disappointed"

         14  three times in referring to not getting help from

         15  the Council. Frankly, I never thought it would be

         16  necessary, because to me this is a no-brainer. You

         17  talk about verifying information from a taxpayer

         18  prior to giving them an exemption. Well, let me ask

         19  you a question. When the State of New York gets my

         20  tax return, and I tell them that I've donated money

         21  to charity, that I'm taking a deduction for it,

         22  they're taking my word for it because I have signed

         23  in the penalty of perjury that I have provided a

         24  truthful statement.

         25                 When I provide my New York City

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  unincorporated business tax returns, you take the

          3  information I provide in that statement as gospel

          4  because I have sworn under penalty of perjury that

          5  that is in fact the truth. Why can't you simply send

          6  the bill, or notice of intent to bill, better, to

          7  taxpayers that don't get the STAR program and say

          8  this is what your bill is going to be unless you

          9  return this form in which you certified under

         10  penalty of perjury that you'll live in the house, or

         11  you meet one of the other exemptions, fold it back

         12  up, sign it, send it postage-free and send it back

         13  instead of terrorizing taxpayers, confusing

         14  taxpayers and scaring everyone into thinking that

         15  they are in fact going to get another 25 percent tax

         16  increase in their real estate tax?

         17                 I will tell you you don't know the

         18  help my office has provided to finance on this

         19  because I have fielded dozens and dozens and dozens

         20  of calls in my office since the Mayor made the

         21  announcement that he'd like to repeal this tax, the

         22  people who said I live in my house but I rent out

         23  the other part, they don't understand, because what

         24  your office and this Administration has done is

         25  confuse taxpayer after taxpayer on something that

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  really should be very, very, very simple,

          3  Commissioner. You don't need our help, all right?

          4  Just send out a form, have people certify yes, no,

          5  send it twice, maybe some people won't get it the

          6  first time. And then in March you'll send them a

          7  bill, and frankly, at that point, I won't feel all

          8  that bad for a taxpayer who failed to respond to

          9  multiple notices and gets taxed. And then,

         10  Commissioner, after all done, and we've established

         11  people who live in their homes, and therefore are

         12  exempt from it, but your database shows that they

         13  aren't getting the STAR exemption, why don't we send

         14  them a letter too at that point and say that you

         15  qualified for your exemption from the absentee

         16  landlord tax, but we believe you're eligible for

         17  STAR, and that doesn't cost the City anything.

         18                 So, why don't we do that as a matter

         19  of course while we're at it? And while we're worried

         20  about banks, we're probably helping some banks out,

         21  because, you know, usually when you apply for a

         22  mortgage, you have to tell the banks whether or not

         23  this is your primary residence, and I guess the

         24  banks might be kind of concerned, if people who have

         25  told the bank on their application that they're
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          2  applying for a mortgage for their primary residence,

          3  when in fact they are making a commercial

          4  investment, and therefore probably aren't eligible

          5  for the loan that they got, maybe the banks would

          6  appreciate knowing that. So I'm not all that worried

          7  about what the banks know or don't know.

          8                 And, so, before you express your

          9  disappointment in the Council, maybe the

         10  Administration ought to clean up its own act and get

         11  this absentee landlord surcharge administered in a

         12  thoughtful, reasonable, practical and simple way

         13  that taxpayers will, can and should understand in

         14  plain English.

         15                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Just I would make

         16  a couple of comments in response to what you said.

         17  The first is, you are absolutely correct that this

         18  is the first time that you are I are going to

         19  vehemently disagree, I would say.

         20                 The first is that on charitable

         21  donations, which is the example you gave on your

         22  personal income tax, as a result of the crackdown on

         23  charitable organizations, they are required to issue

         24  to those people who give more than a certain amount,

         25  tell the IRS that that's true, that's part of the
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          2  condition of them keeping that exemption. So, again,

          3  there is an independent source of verifying the

          4  charitable donation.

          5                 As you know, we're incredibly

          6  aggressive about auditing the UBT returns. Yes,

          7  you're right that that's signed under penalty of

          8  perjury. What I would dare say to you, sir, is that

          9  exactly what you have asked us to do is what we have

         10  been doing. The exclusion form does have the

         11  check-off that says this is my primary residence, so

         12  nothing that you have added is any different than

         13  what's already on the exclusion form, and consistent

         14  with what you all have said to us you wanted us to

         15  do, we've been trying to sign up more people for

         16  STAR.

         17                 So, it's really a little bit

         18  confusing to me that you would suggest that we

         19  aren't committed to doing that. The exclusion form

         20  has exactly that kind of check-off, and we have been

         21  doing the mailing.

         22                 The final thing that I just would say

         23  to you is, the reason why the Council's help would

         24  have been helpful, is that because as you said,

         25  people are intimidated by the Department of Finance,

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  they get significant number of mailings about lots

          3  of issues, from parking tickets to tax returns. It's

          4  a less adversarial relationship when it's coming

          5  from the Council, and that's not because we intend

          6  it to be adversarial, it's because tax

          7  administration scares people.

          8                 You know, I'm sorry. I hear

          9  everything that you said, I feel like the Department

         10  has been doing exactly what you've asked us to do,

         11  which is sending out the exclusion form, making sure

         12  that we did as much outreach on STAR, do outreach on

         13  STAR, don't link it to the absentee landlord

         14  surcharge. That's what you asked us to do, we did

         15  that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well,

         17  Commissioner, I guess you probably would miss the

         18  point of a Council member sending 10,000 letters to

         19  people and saying congratulations, I think I raised

         20  your taxes 25 percent, and not thinking that would

         21  be an adversarial letter, because, frankly, I'm sure

         22  it would be.

         23                 I don't understand, though, the

         24  gobbly-gook about having to verify. Because you

         25  answered my charitable contribution question from
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          2  the reverse end. Unless you audit me and I'm

          3  obligated to produce my receipts or checks, you take

          4  my tax return at face value because I have signed it

          5  and sworn to it, all right? And the only time you

          6  find out is if I happen to get audited, all right?

          7  So, I don't see why this should be any different,

          8  people signing that check off and certifying under

          9  penalty of perjury, and if you're relying upon that,

         10  what's all this other nonsense about the difficulty

         11  of verifying it?

         12                 Take them at their sworn statement.

         13  Go forward from there, and if the State of New York

         14  gives you a hard time, I'll ask them why they're

         15  taking my state tax return at its face value, not

         16  requiring that I submit every cancelled check for

         17  every charitable contribution or Schedule C

         18  deduction that I take on my income tax return with

         19  my tax return. They don't do that because I'm

         20  swearing that it's the truth. They will audit me if

         21  they think my return is unusual or in a random

         22  audit, and that's how we find tax cheats in this

         23  state and in this country, other than non-filers;

         24  what makes this different?

         25                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I think that's
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          2  because the information, again, on the side of

          3  charitable donations, you can produce a cancelled

          4  check about this information. You can actually,

          5  again, the information can be confirmed with the

          6  charity that you allege you gave the money to.

          7                 And this instance, it's very

          8  difficult to verify whether or not -- in fact,

          9  again, I'm going to talk about, it's differently for

         10  primary residency. Primary residency is a little bit

         11  easier than the exclusion items. They're just

         12  different. And you're absolutely right - our forms

         13  also require that people certify under penalties of

         14  perjury, and what that allows us to do is to go in

         15  and randomly audit, to use the resources to randomly

         16  audit and check. But unlike the charitable donation,

         17  unlike the how you report a UBT return, it is not

         18  independently verifiable from anything other than

         19  the information that's provided, and for us to go

         20  and actually question neighbors. It's just a little

         21  different.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Commissioner,

         23  me thinks that thus protests too much. I mean, to

         24  suggest that it is impossible on an audit where you

         25  are trying to verify that this is someone's primary
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          2  residence or a relationship between the owner and a

          3  tenant in that property, that there aren't ways of

          4  producing proof other than the word of the

          5  applicant, so I suggest you go to an INS hearing,

          6  where someone has to establish the bonafides of

          7  their relationship to a sibling or to another

          8  relative in order for purposes of the immigration

          9  law. It happens all the time. There are very, very,

         10  very many ways with documentary evidence to produce

         11  that. And I'm not suggesting that you do that

         12  abinitio, I am suggesting that you take the

         13  certification. But when you have to go back and

         14  you're doing a random audit, or whatever, you're

         15  auditing someone whose application or exemption

         16  application doesn't seem to be legitimate, to

         17  suggest that there aren't ways with documentary

         18  evidence and empirical and objective evidence, of

         19  establishing someone's eligibility for the surcharge

         20  is ludicrous.

         21                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I'll make sure

         22  that -- you know, I have appeared before the INS. My

         23  mom did a lot of immigration work, and I would dare

         24  say that it is actually pretty straightforward to

         25  actually make those records conform with what you
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          2  would like them to.

          3                 However, you've made your point. I

          4  think that it is not easy to verify, and I think

          5  that it requires some more intrusiveness than you

          6  suggest.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, I would

          8  just suggest that the Administration spend a little

          9  more focus on trying to make this work because it is

         10  a just tax, so that we can use this money for things

         11  we need, perhaps to give our senior citizens a

         12  rollback on the property tax exemption. I ask the

         13  Chairman to add my name as a sponsor to this bill.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, thank you,

         15  Council Member Fidler.

         16                 We have six members that have

         17  requested to ask questions of the Commissioner. I'm

         18  not looking to limit anybody's option to ask

         19  questions, but I would just ask you to please limit

         20  it to a direct question, and we have to still vote

         21  on this and we have a Stated Meeting today. So, if

         22  you could just please keep that in mind as you ask

         23  the question, and try to limit your speeches as much

         24  as possible, although I agree with all the points

         25  raised by Council Member Fidler, and they were very
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          2  well stated.

          3                 Council Member Provenzano.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Some of

          5  the questions I had, Commissioner Stark, you very

          6  eloquently answered, but I still do have a few.

          7                 The letter you talk about, was that

          8  letter composed by your staff and then it went?

          9                 I know there was a letter floating

         10  around but I thought it was Council staff was doing

         11  a letter.

         12                 COMMISSIONER STARK: They proposed a

         13  letter and what we provided was the names and

         14  addresses by Council District of what was available.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Just like

         16  that --

         17                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Sam Miller said

         18  that we drafted the original letter, but that the

         19  Council staff made changes to that letter, that we

         20  then provided a spread sheet with information by

         21  Council district with the name and address of the

         22  absentee landlord, and were going to do a mail --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Sam, is

         24  there a way -- can I get a copy of the original

         25  letter? Okay, I think you deal with my office.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Sam Miller,

          3  Assistant Commissioner for Communications and

          4  Customer Service.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Someone

          6  deals with my office very frequently, because we --

          7                 COMMISSIONER STARK: We'll send a

          8  draft of the original letter.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay.

         10                 You mention that this absentee

         11  landlord tax would bring in approximately $44

         12  million. Have you been able to estimate what it

         13  would cost to enforce?

         14                 COMMISSIONER STARK: We have not yet

         15  done an estimate of what it would cost to enforce,

         16  but I said in my testimony we actually have spent a

         17  significant amount of money on advertising. We did

         18  do two mailings. We're planning to do, as I said,

         19  another mailing that's separate and apart from the

         20  billing for those people whose taxes are paid by the

         21  mortgage servicing companies, and we don't have a

         22  rough estimate. We put in at the time that this was

         23  being considered approximately a million dollars in

         24  our budget to implement the program but we've spent

         25  a little bit more on advertisement than we
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          2  originally thought.

          3                 We've been trying to give people in

          4  the office opportunities to process the applications

          5  that have come in, so we've done a little bit of

          6  overtime in that regard, but we don't have the full

          7  amount yet.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: When I got

          9  the information from, I guess it was your office,

         10  indicating how many participate in STAR and how many

         11  don't, I think the folks that are eligible to and

         12  don't was something like twice the amount of folks

         13  that do, which kind of surprised me. I'm pretty sure

         14  that's what my staff told me.

         15                 COMMISSIONER STARK: We find to some

         16  extent STAR stuff a little bit surprising as well.

         17  Again, I think as I acknowledged, I do believe that

         18  Finance early on put a few too many hoops for people

         19  to jump through. We've eliminated those hoops, made

         20  it much easier for people to get applications.

         21                 I also do believe that there is

         22  something in people that find giving information to

         23  government a little bit too intrusive, and, so,

         24  lot's of people don't take advantage of STAR for

         25  those reasons, and heretofore, you know, it didn't
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          2  matter whether or not you had STAR.

          3                 We aren't forcing people to do STAR

          4  if they don't want to. They could simply complete

          5  the exclusion form and still say I don't want to

          6  take whatever are the government, you know, benefits

          7  from STAR. But we've been a little bit puzzled in

          8  trying to figure out why more people aren't availing

          9  themselves with STAR, and tried to eliminate

         10  anything that we might have been doing to cause

         11  that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: But I

         13  think that would kind of lead to Council offices

         14  that are trying to put that out there for folks,

         15  constituents might be more inclined to go to the

         16  Councilperson's office, and that's what I've been

         17  trying to do. I got a little hitch from Finance a

         18  couple of months back, they didn't seem that willing

         19  to allow us to do that.

         20                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Just again, as I

         21  said, I do think that there was some hesitancy on

         22  the part of exemptions. Again, in part, because they

         23  get a lot of negative attention when they

         24  inappropriately give away an exemption. So, as I

         25  said, I believe they put far too many stumbling

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  blocks in the way of having people get access to

          3  STAR. We changed that, even before the absentee

          4  landlord surcharge and have been consistently

          5  working with them. Those forms are now available. We

          6  would love to have you have some. We also spoke with

          7  a group, East Brooklyn Congregations, they're

          8  putting it in their newsletter, and in addition have

          9  it available in their offices. So, again, for that I

         10  can say there was some legitimate concern on the

         11  staff on the part of exemptions, but I do feel like

         12  they put a few too many stumbling blocks in the way.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         14                 I'd also like to just I guess

         15  comment, I think when we as a delegation first

         16  started talking about this absentee landlord, I kind

         17  of bought into it for several reasons. One was that

         18  the money that we got was supposed to go towards

         19  senior citizens, to help them with their real

         20  estate, that never came about, and I, of course, and

         21  probably several others, didn't realize the problems

         22  that I now listened to you tell me about, and a lot

         23  of them make a lot of sense.

         24                 I think another argument was that

         25  most of these absentee landlords lived out of the
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          2  district, out of the City and I'm finding that this

          3  is not so, that very many of the absentee landlords

          4  are actually constituents that live in my district.

          5                 I also am not happy with the fact

          6  that someone -- say I own a two-family house, I live

          7  in one of the rental apartments, why should I have

          8  to prove that I am not an absentee landlord? The

          9  onus should not fall upon me. So, I appreciate your

         10  testimony today, and I certainly think we should

         11  take another look at the whole absentee landlord

         12  thing.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Thank you,

         15  Council member. And we will get you the information

         16  that you requested.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         18  Felder.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you.

         20  Good morning.

         21                 Before I ask you some questions about

         22  your testimony, I just wanted to mention that I feel

         23  very strongly that the comment you made about the

         24  exemptions with March 15th, even with regard to the

         25  other exemptions, I am very much in favor, I know
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          2  administratively it's a headache, but I think

          3  whether it's the senior exemption, or it's the

          4  exemption for not-for-profit, if at any point during

          5  the year somebody is able to prove it, I would be

          6  very much in favor in them getting the exemption

          7  prorated.

          8                 I understand that somebody shouldn't

          9  have -- you know, if they buy it in July they

         10  shouldn't be exempt the whole year, but I would very

         11  much be in favor of them being exempt for that

         12  portion of the year that they were exempt, even

         13  though it would create a headache for you. But my

         14  concern is the people, you know, in the

         15  neighborhoods, and especially with the additional

         16  taxes that have been imposed, anything and

         17  everything that we can do to make things somewhat

         18  easier for them is important. So, I'd appreciate

         19  your considering that.

         20                 Having said that, I want to echo the

         21  comments that Councilwoman Provenzano made

         22  wholeheartedly. I think the whole thing stinks. And

         23  to me, the issue is not a blame game as to whether

         24  it was the Mayor or the Council or anybody else,

         25  it's irrelevant to me at this time. You know, when
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          2  we were kids, if my mother walked into the room and

          3  it was a mess, she wasn't interested in who did it,

          4  she said I'll be back in five minutes, the room

          5  better be clean and that's it. And that's how I feel

          6  the situation is now. It's irrelevant to me, whether

          7  we or the Mayor or anybody else, it's irrelevant.

          8  The thing stinks. I think that my chief of staff is

          9  there, Fern Weinwright, and Erica, I don't think

         10  I've gotten more calls on anything else throughout

         11  my tenure here and my tenure working for Assemblyman

         12  Hycken seven years before that, on any other issue I

         13  haven't gotten more calls on, people being upset,

         14  scared and confused.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, you can

         16  blame Newsday for that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: No, no, no.

         18  It's my turn, David. You're out of order. Are you

         19  going to have them carry me out?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I would never do

         21  that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.

         23                 I think that the tax, I agree with

         24  Councilwoman Provenzano. I think we should relook,

         25  reconsider the whole thing, I think that in the
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          2  absence of being able to get rid of it entirely and

          3  have to do it again, that doesn't make sense either

          4  to me, so I think the vote today, to delay it, gives

          5  us an opportunity to reconsider it, not merely to

          6  straighten out things. I think that we should really

          7  reconsider whether this thing makes sense. I can

          8  mention, I'll be brief, the issue of it being fair,

          9  for example. If you own a home, a second home, and

         10  you have rental incomes, or you're supposed to have

         11  three rental incomes and you only have one, you're

         12  being taxed, that's no exemption. Is that true? You

         13  own a three-family house, you don't live in, and

         14  you're only able to rent one apartment. Are you

         15  being taxed the full 25 percent surcharge?

         16                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Absolutely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes, that

         18  doesn't make sense.

         19                 And then the reverse is also true,

         20  which I like. I mean, I like the tax cuts all the

         21  time. If you have a home that you don't live in and

         22  a child lives in and you're renting two other

         23  apartments to somebody, somebody else. You have

         24  rental incomes on the other two; are you exempt?

         25                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Actually, you
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          2  know, we haven't quite sorted through what portion

          3  you get the exemption for if you're in a

          4  three-family house and two of the units are not

          5  rented to your child.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Do you hear

          7  that, my colleagues? I certainly was under the

          8  impression that if you have a rental property --

          9                 COMMISSIONER STARK: My counsel said

         10  that the way we've currently written the rules, we

         11  would exempt that property.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.

         13                 COMMISSIONER STARK: So, even if two

         14  of the apartments are rented to a non-child or

         15  non-parent and you don't live in it, just by virtue

         16  of renting, just by virtue of renting to the child,

         17  you exempt the entire property.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right, that

         19  was my impression. So, if that's the case, and,

         20  again, I'm in favor of that. I'm in favor of getting

         21  rid of it entirely, so my question is only to prove

         22  that it doesn't make sense, because if the tax is

         23  supposed to be, you're trying to tax investors who

         24  shouldn't be really getting the same break that

         25  homeowners are getting, you're saying to people,
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          2  well, as long as you have somebody live there, then

          3  you're really not making any money, and the tax is

          4  not on income, it's the taxes on the property value,

          5  which is not a tax on income.

          6                 So, I don't think it's fair. I don't

          7  think it makes sense at this time, and I think that

          8  after being in office, as Councilman Fidler said,

          9  for 22 months, I'm maturing or trying to mature as

         10  time goes on and to try to really understand what

         11  we're voting on very clearly before we vote on it,

         12  and I think that although the Administration, or

         13  you're asking to deal repeal it entirely, I think

         14  that my compromise in my mind is that the delay

         15  gives us an opportunity to do just that, and I would

         16  ask my colleagues to reconsider whether this whole

         17  thing makes sense, no matter who is to blame and

         18  take the time until March 15th to do that.

         19                 And, again, I ask if you can consider

         20  the exemption issue.  It is a very, very sore point,

         21  I think, for many of our constituents, and the only

         22  reason conceivably is the administrative issue,

         23  which is not fair. If an older person, a senior

         24  citizen buys a house mid-year, I would hope that

         25  they should be able to get the exemption for those
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          2  months.

          3                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I just asked my

          4  Counsel to step up to the table. This is Dara Jaffe.

          5                 Just in response, I thank you for

          6  your comments. I do believe that the deadline of

          7  March 15th for both the senior and the veterans

          8  exemption is in state law. I should note for the

          9  record that the time period for the STAR is actually

         10  January 5th, and as part of, again, our attempt to

         11  try to make sure that all of the exemption deadlines

         12  are the same, we actually were going to propose a

         13  minor change that would allow us to accept STAR

         14  after January 5th.

         15                 I mean, your point about

         16  not-for-profits, we should talk more about, but it's

         17  in state law that the deadline is March 15th for

         18  both veterans and for seniors and the STAR actual

         19  exemption is as of January 5th each year. That's

         20  supposed to be the ownership term.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I appreciate

         22  that. Now, my understanding is that the STAR program

         23  on the last few years has been extended, despite the

         24  January deadline; is that true?

         25                 COMMISSIONER STARK: The STAR program,
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          2  basically what we will do is take the application,

          3  but often times, again, can't implement it until the

          4  following year. So, for purposes of the absentee

          5  landlord surcharge, we can take the applications and

          6  exempt them from the surcharge for the current

          7  fiscal year '04, extend that through March 15th, and

          8  concurrently we want to work to change the STAR

          9  application deadline to match the veterans and the

         10  senior deadline.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: All right.

         12  This is the last question, Chairman. Just to put you

         13  on the spot, would you be in favor, since it's a

         14  state law, does that mean you would be in favor of

         15  us doing what I just suggested, on the senior

         16  citizens and to ask for legislation to be passed so

         17  that the March 15th deadline would not be in stone,

         18  and is therefore, if a senior citizen bought a home

         19  in July, they'd be able to get the exemption

         20  prorated?

         21                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I'm assuming that

         22  you really don't expect me to answer that question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I appreciate

         24  it.

         25                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          3  Comrie.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Commissioner,

          5  I appreciate your testimony and I understand your

          6  level of frustration with this. You have to

          7  understand that we're somewhat frustrated with this

          8  as well because it was proposed and then adopted in

          9  the Executive Preliminary Executive Budgets, you

         10  know, as something that was identifiable and easy to

         11  do, and now it's become an administrative nightmare,

         12  to say the least.

         13                 My original, the original assessment,

         14  according to the IBO report, had my district listed

         15  as 3,000 or so properties, and now it's at 13,000

         16  properties, and when my staff got the disk and

         17  realized that there was a mailing of 13,000, which

         18  is like ten times the amount that we normally mail,

         19  there was no way for me to do this, as I've done for

         20  the in rem exemptions, which is a much smaller

         21  number.

         22                 The first thing I would ask you is

         23  would you absorb that mailing cost, or how would we

         24  do that mailing, and to do those kinds of community

         25  outreaches, because I can't do that out of my own?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER STARK: We would

          3  absolutely absorb that mailing cost.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          5                 COMMISSIONER STARK: We would do that.

          6  We actually offered to do that already, so we would

          7  be most willing to do that for the Council.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Just to let

          9  you know, I've already been talking to all my civics

         10  and monthly meetings that have been coming up, we've

         11  been handing out the certificates, the community

         12  boards are aware of it, so we're starting to do some

         13  basic groundwork on this because a lot of people

         14  have not taken advantage of this STAR exemption and

         15  did not know about it. My staff has been downloading

         16  it from the State website, because it's always been

         17  there on the State website to give to people since

         18  I've been in office, but your application is a

         19  little clearer than the State's original application

         20  was.

         21                 That being said, I still agree with

         22  Councilman Fidler's assertion that there has to be

         23  some way of making primary residency clearer in how

         24  you can track it and how you can do verification,

         25  and I intend to put in a bill for legislative
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          2  consideration because at the other end of that is

          3  that, as you know, my district is primarily a

          4  single-family homeowner district, when we have

          5  properties that are not being well maintained

          6  because a person has purchased the property for

          7  speculation, when they purchase that property often

          8  times they put the address of the property as the

          9  mailing address, and as you know, when you're trying

         10  to do the follow through so that either Sanitation

         11  or Health or someone can clean the property, it

         12  takes even longer.

         13                 So, I think part of this problem is

         14  to do some type of legislation coming from the

         15  Council, and hopefully I'll have that introduced by

         16  my next -- by the next Stated Meeting, a bill of

         17  legislative intent to at least ask the purchasers of

         18  any property in the City to list the mailing address

         19  or the primary contact address when they buy or

         20  purchase or exchange any property. I think that

         21  would go a long way to delineating and cut down this

         22  list in identifying who was actually absentee and

         23  who was buying speculation. I think that would help

         24  a long way to a lot of this process, because to go

         25  from 4,000 to 13,000 was a shock to me when I opened

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  up that XL file and realized it was much too large

          3  to handle. But still, you know, we need to make sure

          4  that everyone has an opportunity to apply for STAR.

          5                 Can you just explain to me, you

          6  talked about some possible solutions but you're

          7  saying that you'd rather see the bill repealed as

          8  opposed to delayed; how would a repeal help us? How

          9  would a repeal help us as far as identifying a

         10  problem that we already discovered six months and

         11  agreed on six or eight months ago?

         12                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I just actually

         13  wanted to say something to you about your proposed

         14  legislation, about where tax bills go.

         15                 One of the things that you have all

         16  heard me talk about with some excitement is our

         17  Automated City Register Information System. One of

         18  the improvements in the most updated version is

         19  going to require that people who are getting either

         20  a mortgage or if they're mortgage is going out or in

         21  a deed transaction, a required form will be for them

         22  to complete an owner registration form that gives us

         23  the mailing address.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         25                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I would love to
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          2  walk you through that at some point, but we do want

          3  to make that a required form for every transaction,

          4  deed transaction and mortgage transaction, so that

          5  we can in fact reach the people where their mailing

          6  address is. I just wanted to add that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'll contact

          8  your staff to develop that as part of the

          9  legislation that was put in.

         10                 COMMISSIONER STARK: We'd love to have

         11  an opportunity to talk about that.

         12                 The second issue that you raise,

         13  which is why a repeal? Again, I think that for some

         14  of the reasons that even Council Member Felder sort

         15  of mentioned, there is some cost tax policy purposes

         16  that are at work here. The question of do you want

         17  to give an exemption for one unit of a house to a

         18  person who owns a three-family house, for example,

         19  when in fact they are charging market rent to the

         20  two people who live above, but you treat a person

         21  who owns a one-family home and is just renting to

         22  one person differently if they don't live there. I

         23  think that there are some important tax policy

         24  considerations. I think the notion that you would

         25  prefer that people live in the houses that they own
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          2  is really, you know, it's a laudable goal in the

          3  City of New York. Unfortunately, I just don't see

          4  that this particular proposal which is fairly

          5  arbitrary in who gets to pay the surcharge and who

          6  doesn't is the best way of accomplishing that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. Do you

          8  have a percentage, or do you know about the

          9  percentage of the absentee landlords that live in

         10  the City? Have you been able to start delineating

         11  that? Or is that still lost in the fog?

         12                 COMMISSIONER STARK: We have not done

         13  a cross match.

         14                 Again, one of the things that I do

         15  think it's important to also remember is that, you

         16  know, the property tax is typically administered by

         17  either address, a borough block and lot, but we

         18  don't actually always have social security numbers

         19  to go with property addresses.

         20                 In fact, I recall last year

         21  testifying before this Council where one of the

         22  Council members said why do you ask any of my

         23  constituents for their social security number and

         24  would prefer not to? It is clear in law that we can

         25  for appropriate tax administration, but we don't
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          2  currently have all Social Security numbers for every

          3  property owner, we actually have undertaken a

          4  project to do that.

          5                 If we had Social Security numbers, it

          6  would be relatively easy working with the State to

          7  do a match against State New York City resident tax

          8  returns and the property owners tax returns. We are

          9  actually trying to do that. Tax Policy is here,

         10  Jacob Whitman.

         11                 And I don't remember, Jacob, do you

         12  know how many currently we don't have in our system?

         13                 MR. WHITMAN: Mostly the ones that we

         14  have are people that are from STAR.

         15                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Right.

         16                 So, we know if they're in STAR, but,

         17  again, it's this ironic thing where if they don't

         18  apply to STAR, we don't have their Social Security

         19  number, it's difficult to match against whether or

         20  not they're actually a resident. But we do have a

         21  project underway now to try to get a handle on those

         22  numbers.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: We can include

         24  that in the legislation. Make that an omnibus

         25  budget.
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          2                 Again, you know my commitment to

          3  doing community outreach on this and I will make

          4  sure that we do that on these finance issues, but I

          5  would still hope that at the end of the day we still

          6  are able to, especially in districts such as myself,

          7  where we have a preponderance of people that are

          8  speculative landlords, that we do identify them so

          9  that we can be more aggressive about protecting the

         10  communities that we all live in.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         13  Council member.

         14                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Thank you,

         15  Council member.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         17  Brewer.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         19                 Very briefly, and thank you for your

         20  honesty, Commissioner, I appreciate it, and for the

         21  amazing amount of work you put into everything.

         22                 Three quick questions: One is, in

         23  yesterday's Daily News there was an article, an

         24  op-ed, indicating, I think it was from the folks at

         25  Pratt, talking about the issue of those who have a
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          2  lot of violations. And the question is, is there any

          3  ability to match the non-resident owners who have

          4  violations, C violations in particular, to what

          5  you're doing? Is that something that you've thought

          6  about?

          7                 COMMISSIONER STARK: You know, we have

          8  been talking with HPD and Buildings about trying to

          9  find better ways for us to be able to enforce their

         10  violations once they're not able to collect them.

         11  Again, the project that we're working on with tax

         12  policy, which would match, try to get Social

         13  Security numbers, match the property, would also

         14  perhaps facilitate that process of linking

         15  violations.

         16                 Again, violations are tricky because

         17  it might be the tenants in the property that's

         18  caused the violation, but at least we would be able

         19  to try to hold the owner accountable if we had that

         20  kind of information.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right, the

         22  second question is, obviously on the West Side there

         23  aren't a lot of the non -- the persons whom we're

         24  discussing today, non -- the absentee owners;

         25  however, there is a huge primary residence problem.
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          2  And what I am concerned about is that if you have a

          3  property that has three tenants from the community,

          4  and you want to get the discount and the abatement,

          5  you would in fact move your mother in in order to

          6  get it. Is that something that you have thought

          7  about?

          8                 I know that this is not something

          9  that you want to think about, because this is not

         10  something that you support, but is that something

         11  that is on the radar screen, that challenge?

         12                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Absolutely. I

         13  mean, it's just another way in which this becomes

         14  difficult. I mean, I think the example, again, that

         15  Council Member Felder gave is you have a three-unit

         16  building, and you get rid of one of the people and

         17  you move your child into that place. I mean, it is a

         18  concern from a tax policy perspective, about what

         19  are we actually trying to accomplish with the law,

         20  but I do believe that that's possible.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, I

         22  believe that's a huge issue. And then, finally,

         23  something that has been brought up by the past, by a

         24  colleague who thinks often about ways in which

         25  things are administered, I call him the "common
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          2  sense Council member" over there; the question is --

          3  the guy down there, the guy from Brooklyn. He

          4  indicates that in the past that when DEP sends out

          5  the endless water bill, why is it that we cannot

          6  also include information about finance?

          7                 We get water bills so often that it

          8  goes with the junk mail. But in fact, if it had some

          9  informative information in it, it would be helpful

         10  perhaps for homeowners.

         11                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I was thinking

         12  yesterday with several people about --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Simcha Felder

         14  has been saying this for a year, am I right?

         15                 COMMISSIONER STARK: -- Better

         16  coordination with DEP, and I think as you know, the

         17  Department of Finance used to bill for water, but

         18  when we separated the water system, they have a sort

         19  of separate billing mechanism.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         21                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I do think that

         22  there are ways we should be and will be working more

         23  closely.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, it's not

         25  just the billing, it's also the Croton reservoir and
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          2  something something and something in small print,

          3  and the ideal would be to have it one cohesive

          4  discussion about City policy, something to think

          5  about.

          6                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         10  Sears is the last questioner.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair. And good afternoon, Commissioner. It's good

         13  to see you.

         14                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Good afternoon.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'm going to be

         16  brief because we have to vote, but there are a

         17  couple of things that I think need clarification and

         18  have to have separation. One is that this tax was

         19  not imposed as a punitive measure. I think that

         20  should be removed from our thinking. It is not to

         21  punish anybody. It was designed to be a fair tax on

         22  investment properties. That's what it was designed

         23  for, and why the one, two and three of the owners

         24  who did not live there were exempt from that, right?

         25  Because that's an investment property. And there are
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          2  no question -- you know, I did a lot of polling in

          3  my area to those absentee landlords who are good

          4  landlords, they're fair, they're decent, and had no

          5  objections to having a tax imposed if it was going

          6  to help the City.

          7                 There is a lot of resentment on the

          8  abusive landlords who do this. You can come into any

          9  of the 59 community boards in the City of New York,

         10  and every board would be able to identify exactly

         11  where those abuses are and where you have those

         12  landlords that are not living there.

         13                 You could coordinate with not only

         14  DEP, but you can coordinate with Sanitation. They

         15  can tell you every place of an absentee landlord

         16  where they are overcharging - overcharging, abusive,

         17  we are encouraging by ignoring it, some pretty bad

         18  social conditions, and I repeat, it is not a

         19  punitive, it was never designed that way. But we

         20  have to vote on it, I think that you need to

         21  coordinate with the other two agencies that could

         22  help you very much to get this in order and to

         23  implement what the City Council voted on.

         24                 I'm going to support the extension of

         25  this because I believe you can do it, I believe you
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          2  can do it fairly and I believe you can do it with

          3  accuracy. And it is not a tax that should be

          4  repealed. We would never have voted for this if it

          5  was imposed as being something very punitive and

          6  outrageous. It is fair, and you need that kind of

          7  time and I think you need the coordination of the

          8  agencies. And you should really talk to 59 community

          9  boards.

         10                 Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         12  McMahon, very briefly.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Then we're going

         15  to proceed to a vote, so if all members could please

         16  bear with us, we need a quorum.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Hi,

         18  Commissioner. As you know, my name is Michael

         19  McMahon, very briefly.

         20                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Your name is

         21  "very briefly"?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: That's the

         23  way I was announced, I don't know.

         24                 I'm a little concerned that you said

         25  you can't tell us how many landlords live in New
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          2  York City and how many don't. Is that difficult

          3  information to provide? You provided us today with a

          4  very detailed graph and charts, and listings of

          5  homes in districts, is there a reason that that

          6  information isn't attainable?

          7                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Who is a landlord

          8  who lives in New York City? Again, the only way that

          9  we can do that is to match against personal income

         10  tax returns, those people who file as New York City

         11  residents, against the property tax return. The

         12  unique field that we need to do that match is Social

         13  Security number, and we don't have Social Security

         14  numbers for every property owner.

         15                 So, we are in the midst of trying to

         16  download to the extent possible our files to get a

         17  Social Security number, but it requires a little bit

         18  more matching than originally meets the eye.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay.

         20                 I'm a little confused by your

         21  testimony because you said that one of the -- let's

         22  say deleterious results of delaying the

         23  implementation of this bill will be hitting the

         24  owners of this property with a larger bill in effect

         25  for the last final quarter. I agree with that, yet

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  I'm curious why the Administration in dealing with

          3  the City's overall budget crisis delayed for over a

          4  year and didn't come in until November of last year,

          5  to say, okay, now is the time that we have to get

          6  real with this and then therefore sent out bills

          7  that was a year-long increase but it was only for

          8  half of a year. Did you argue within the

          9  Administration that we deal with this problem sooner

         10  so that the effects would not be as dramatically

         11  felt by land, property owners? Do you understand my

         12  question?

         13                 You make a sound argument today, but

         14  nobody from the Administration made that argument

         15  last year when we were dealing with the bigger

         16  crisis.

         17                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I actually would

         18  say that last year the Administration was concerned

         19  about that.

         20                 When we adopted the budget last year

         21  in June, we had no idea at that time what the impact

         22  was going to be on the economy, and I think that it

         23  wasn't until later that we got the early returns, as

         24  I understand it, of the tax revenue, that we saw

         25  that there was a deeper problem, and that's why with
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          2  the first budget modification that was done in

          3  November was when we tried to address that problem.

          4  But, yes, we always have articulated concern about

          5  trying to have the entire increase of any sort

          6  billed late in the year. It's much better to do that

          7  earlier.

          8                 One of the other things that you just

          9  should note, we did bill again last, this time in

         10  June, July, using last year's tax rate because the

         11  budget was a little bit later than we would have

         12  liked. By law, we're required to get the tax bills

         13  in the mail by June 5th, unless you delay that. So,

         14  if possible, we try not to have to do a rebilling in

         15  the middle of the year. This is the second year in a

         16  row, maybe it just coincides with my tenure in

         17  Finance, where we are doing a second billing. That

         18  second billing is quite confusing, especially when

         19  it's for small dollars. In an ideal world we'd like

         20  to bill as early in the year as possible to give

         21  people an opportunity to pay it over a time period

         22  that the charge is due.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But you agree

         24  that the sooner you tackle a problem like this, the

         25  less of the immediate effect that is felt because
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          2  it's spread out over time?

          3                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Absolutely.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: You mean to

          5  tell me that when we did the budget for '03, that we

          6  didn't know what type of shape the City's budget was

          7  in? And in fact in that year we borrowed nearly $2

          8  billion to fill the gap, and we certainly knew what

          9  the outyear gap was going to be, why didn't the

         10  Administration start to grapple with it then? And

         11  thereby in effect the notorious bill property tax

         12  increase would have been less, because we would have

         13  accumulated more money over time to deal with the

         14  problem?

         15                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Again, I do

         16  believe that the Administration appropriately, you

         17  know, with this Council, tried to deal with what we

         18  knew was the problem in June, and adopted a budget

         19  and it wasn't until later in the year when we

         20  received new forecasts that we realized that the

         21  revenues were not coming in as we expected, and it

         22  was at the soonest moment that we could that was in

         23  the November modification that we could adopt that,

         24  and as I said, when the circumstances are ideal, you

         25  want to try to bill as early in a cycle as possible,
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          2  and if it's not ideal unfortunately there are times

          3  when you have to delay, and this law would really

          4  put all of the full year increase in the last

          5  quarter, which is burdensome for some of the owners.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I agree with

          7  that.

          8                 Is it the Administration's position

          9  now that the money that would be raised by this

         10  absentee landlord or investor's tax is no longer

         11  necessary to fill the budget gap?

         12                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I wouldn't say

         13  that. I think that the Mayor has talked about this

         14  quite eloquently, which is that he believes that

         15  because of the difficulty in administering this,

         16  because of some of the policy implications, that it

         17  would be in the best interest in the City to repeal

         18  that law.

         19                 But I'm not going to comment on

         20  whether or not that means, you know, going forward

         21  is there no need for this money. I think that given

         22  what one would get from this, it raises significant

         23  questions for us about whether or not it makes

         24  sense.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Commissioner,
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          2  last year the Mayor went up to Albany and struck a

          3  deal with the leaders in the Albany Legislature that

          4  included many different pieces that a lot of us

          5  didn't like and a lot of us voted for because it was

          6  told to us that this was one package and this is

          7  what we want.

          8                 We would all sit here and say we

          9  would much rather have the commuter tax, but a deal

         10  was struck, handshakes were made out in the steps in

         11  the foyer and a deal was struck, that this was the

         12  way we were going to go about closing the budget

         13  gap.

         14                 So, now, nobody wants to vote for

         15  taxes. Let me make that perfectly clear. But those

         16  who did voted for this thinking that it was part of

         17  a very big package to solve a very big problem. So,

         18  now the package is unraveling and that's fine. Are

         19  you now saying that we should sit here and take

         20  apart all the different pieces that we don't like?

         21                 And if we do that, you see, this is

         22  the thing that troubles me with your answer. I agree

         23  with everything you said, but then you've got to say

         24  where is the other $44 million coming from that

         25  we're not going to get? Or better yet, where are the
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          2  cuts that we're going to make that will make up this

          3  hole in the budget, and the Mayor should be saying

          4  where that's coming from.

          5                 But you're asking us to accept part

          6  of the equation without giving us the answer.

          7                 You say in your testimony we would

          8  rather repeal this tax. Fine. Then tell us the money

          9  is not needed, or tell us this is how we're going to

         10  make up for it.

         11                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Just again I

         12  would say that one of the things that at least I was

         13  always taught is that when you take a stand or you

         14  adopt something, if in retrospect it doesn't make

         15  sense then you might want to consider changing your

         16  mind or repealing it.

         17                 I believe that, you know, we have

         18  suggested that we would like to repeal it and we

         19  will be working very closely with the Office of

         20  Management and Budget on what does that mean, you

         21  know, as far as revenues coming in thus far. But I

         22  am not in a position to talk about that, because I'm

         23  not the Budget Director, I'm just trying to

         24  highlight what are some of the problems as the

         25  Finance Commissioner in implementing this bill.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But you are

          3  without question one of the brightest, most honest,

          4  straightforward people who works in the City of New

          5  York right now, and I say that --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Now you know

          7  you're getting set up.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: -- In my

          9  experience dealing with you; is it responsible for

         10  us to repeal something without knowing what the

         11  effects of it will be?

         12                 I mean, I agree with your half of the

         13  equation, but you, or maybe somebody else from the

         14  Administration, should come in and say, look, we

         15  told you we needed this stuff. We told you that this

         16  is how we're going to fill the budget gap. We told

         17  you the size of the gap. We're the only ones who

         18  have the power to do that. That's the

         19  Administration. We projected revenue, we projected

         20  the gap. This is what we need, and now you come in a

         21  few months later, and because this is unpopular,

         22  like they're all unpopular, but they told us to do

         23  the right thing, stand up and be politically

         24  courageous, take the right steps, and we did that,

         25  and now we're being told, oh, it wasn't necessary,
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          2  you know what? We don't need that money, we'll get

          3  it somewhere else.

          4                 You've got to tell us where it's

          5  coming from, and the Administration should not be

          6  allowed to walk around and say, oh, we don't need

          7  that anymore. You know, we said the sky was falling,

          8  but now we don't need it, because it's politically

          9  unpopular.

         10                 We were asked to take the political

         11  heat. We went through an election when the political

         12  heat was to the high degree, and now another

         13  election is coming and we're told we don't need it.

         14                 That is wrong. And it's wrong for any

         15  representative of the Administration to say here,

         16  don't include this, but we're not going to tell you

         17  how to close the gap.

         18                 Commissioner, I should have said this

         19  from the beginning. It's not personal. I don't mean

         20  this to you at all, but you're here representing the

         21  Administration that told us one thing and is now

         22  telling us something else.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You don't have to

         24  respond, Commissioner.

         25                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I didn't --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, I'm now

          3  going to call for a vote, while we have a quorum.

          4                 Call the roll, please.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Weprin.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

          8                 (No response.)

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: May I

         11  explain my vote, please?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You may.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I think in

         14  hindsight I personally am a little embarrassed to

         15  see what is happening with this bill. And I think

         16  it's not -- I'm not blaming the City Council, I'm

         17  not blaming the Administration, I think it's the

         18  fault of all of us. I don't think enough thought was

         19  put into how it would be administrated. We were told

         20  several things that did not come to pass. I repeat,

         21  as I said before, one was that this monies would be

         22  to allay the real estate taxes for seniors. That was

         23  changed. We were also told that most of the absentee

         24  landlords lived out of the district. I find that

         25  that's not true.
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          2                 I have gotten a lot of flack from my

          3  constituency on this, and although I am a lame duck

          4  and don't have to worry about being re-elected in

          5  two years, I think that the message I need to send

          6  to my constituents is that a mistake was made with

          7  the absentee landlord tax.

          8                 I do not think this bill that we're

          9  voting on today, extending it to March will do any

         10  of us any good.

         11                 I think we should address the problem

         12  today and not push it forward. I vote no.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Nelson.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I vote aye,

         21  but I want to add in terms of communication, in

         22  terms of the fact that we were told one thing in the

         23  initial discussion and there's now another set of

         24  challenges to think about, and also in terms of

         25  thinking about some of the consequences of what this
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          2  action means, that perhaps we could use this time to

          3  think about what it should look like in March. So, I

          4  vote aye. But for communication reasons and for

          5  consequence reasons and for administrative reasons,

          6  I am a huge supporter of this Commissioner, and I

          7  think she gave a very honest evaluation of what her

          8  challenges are in administrating it and I think we

          9  should listen to them.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: May I be

         13  excused to explain my vote?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I agree with

         16  Council Member Provenzano's assertion regarding why

         17  this tax was developed and the fact that it was

         18  supposed to exempt seniors and that was taken off

         19  the table and eliminated from the opportunity.

         20                 I do agree, however, with Council

         21  Members Fidler and Felder regarding the City's

         22  inability to put this tax and put this effort into

         23  clear and understandable efforts so that we can all

         24  -- so that the City can benefit from it, so that we

         25  can do what we need to do so that we can close the
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          2  budget gap, so that we can make sure that landlords

          3  that are not maintaining their property in a proper

          4  manner can be given another reason -- give the City

          5  another opportunity and another tool to go after

          6  them.

          7                 So, I'm conflicted with a lot of

          8  things with this bill, but I think that we need to

          9  do this delay and quickly try and come up with a

         10  final solution to resolve this so that it's clear

         11  that this will be administrated clearly and

         12  succinctly by the Department of Finance and if we

         13  can also come up with some legislation that would

         14  make it easier for them to delineate who is an

         15  absentee property landlord, who is actually

         16  purchasing the property and what those

         17  responsibilities for those individuals are.

         18                 So, I hope that we can clearly put

         19  those things together.

         20                 The legislation that I talked about

         21  earlier, I will be working seriously with the

         22  Finance staff so that we can make clearer

         23  delineations as to who is who as far as property

         24  ownerships in the City.

         25                 I vote aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Felder.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: May I be

          6  excused to explain my vote?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I am asking

          9  again that the Committee on Rules put into place

         10  that the roll call should be done in alphabetical

         11  order whether you have a committee or not, or

         12  whether you're a democrat or republican or anything

         13  else, and that's why I pass.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm tempted to

         16  pass, but may I explain my vote? I guess that's a

         17  yes.

         18                 With all due respect to my colleague

         19  Madeline Provenzano who may be a lame duck but would

         20  never be a quack, and to Simcha Felder's mother, I

         21  do think that blame needs to be laid very, very

         22  clearly on this one. Because if I am conflicted at

         23  all, it's because the Administration has taken

         24  something that to me should be very, very simple,

         25  and as from gobbly-gook and confusion on it, has
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          2  caused people to call our offices asking for

          3  explanations that wouldn't be necessary had they

          4  taken care of this efficiently, clearly, quickly,

          5  instead of looking to make excuses to repeal a tax

          6  that I still don't understand why they think is more

          7  important to repeal than providing relief on

          8  property taxes to senior citizens on fixed incomes,

          9  and I vote yes.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I vote yes.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Pass.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Wait, I'm

         15  sorry.

         16                 I love Simcha Felder's mother.

         17  Because that's his mother. And Lew, don't ever talk

         18  about his mother again, because she's going to come

         19  and give you a kiss here and here.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Permission to

         22  explain my vote, Mr. Chair?

         23                 You know, I vote yes on this, but I

         24  think that we have to be reminded that we had a

         25  hearing on this and we heard from the
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          2  Administration. It was not, I don't believe, up to

          3  us, to this Council and this Committee, to look at

          4  how the Finance Department was going to administer

          5  and implement what had been approved by the

          6  Administration and this Council.

          7                 We don't go into the daily operations

          8  and who does what.

          9                 So, this bill, if they have -- and

         10  they do obviously have a problem getting all their

         11  records together, then it behooves us to extend

         12  this, to delay it so that they can pull together the

         13  resources to make it work.

         14                 I don't feel there's blame on this

         15  Council, and I, for one, don't take blame for it,

         16  and I don't think this Committee should, and I don't

         17  think the Council should. Because we had a fair

         18  hearing on it and everybody knew what it was

         19  supposed to do.

         20                 I vote yes.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Pass.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Boyland.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: May I be

         25  excused to explain my vote, Mr. Chair?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Obviously

          4  there are some issues here that obviously have to be

          5  ironed out. There is still a bit of delay that

          6  everyone is having on the 25 percent in the first

          7  place, based on the difficulties we had with the

          8  property tax increase, but we had to do it based on

          9  the status of our financial plans right now, fiscal

         10  budget in New York City, but the real question here

         11  is to make sure those that actually live in their

         12  homes, that actually are seniors and actually are

         13  vets, that they are not prosecuted based on the fact

         14  that the notification has not been sent out, or that

         15  they have not seen something that the Commissioner

         16  has said is something that should have been done a

         17  long time ago.

         18                 My real concern is to protect those

         19  that can't protect themselves. For those seniors

         20  that actually own their homes, and may not receive

         21  this through their mortgage, those that have to

         22  depend on the mail system, this is a serious issue

         23  because they, too, may be looking at an increase in

         24  a program that they probably should have applied for

         25  years ago if they're seniors already. And that's
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          2  another total issue in itself and I think the Chair

          3  brought it up in regards to why hasn't the STAR

          4  program been pushed and implemented before we got to

          5  this point so we wouldn't have to look at numbers,

          6  you know, in one district 13,000 families? I think

          7  that's another issue in itself that we need to

          8  really discuss, on what has been done in the past?

          9                 And we know that obviously she just

         10  got here, the Commissioner just got here in January,

         11  but we need to really look at what the Finance

         12  Department Administration is working on in regards

         13  to really protecting those families and those

         14  homeowners that live in New York.

         15                 Remember our goal is to keep people

         16  in New York and to make sure that they maintain and

         17  pay their property taxes, as opposed to looking two

         18  years and three years down the line to our tax lien

         19  list, which is increasingly another problem that

         20  we're dealing with.

         21                 So, on this legislation, to extend it

         22  to March, I vote aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Felder.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Pass.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You just did
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          2  that. We've got to vote.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Where does it

          4  say in the rules I can't do it more than once?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Because we're

          6  finished.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay, so,

          8  let's go. I pass.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Felder.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: You know

         15  I'm very tempted to pass, but I'm debating. Yes, it

         16  would be alphabetically correct if you voted first,

         17  but Mr. Chairman, may I be temporarily excused to

         18  explain my vote?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I remember

         21  the debate or the little debate that we had on the

         22  absentee landlord surcharge back in June, but I do

         23  remember clearly when the three republicans in this

         24  Council voted in opposition, and at that time I

         25  think that we said that the surcharge is a silly
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          2  idea, and for multiple reasons. One was how it was

          3  going to be implemented.

          4                 Two is that this surcharge really is

          5  a tax on renters. It's going to be a pass-through

          6  tax, it's the one-, two- and three-family homes,

          7  those that are not afforded protection under rent

          8  guidelines.

          9                 So, I'm here today with a decision,

         10  my decision is do I support an extension of three

         11  months so that they can bill a tax that I don't

         12  believe in? Or should I stand for my principles? And

         13  my principles is to say that I'm going to do what I

         14  did in June, and that's to vote no, because the bill

         15  that we should have before us today, the bill that

         16  we should be considering today is the repeal of this

         17  tax.

         18                 And my colleagues have talked about

         19  the $44 million. Well, you know what? From what I'm

         20  seeing now this bill is going to reap more than $44

         21  million because thousands of homeowners throughout

         22  this City are going to be billed a tax that they

         23  don't deserve to be paying, and then they're going

         24  to have to go through the arduous task of trying to

         25  get money from the Department of Finance.
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          2                 Folks, I don't know how many of you

          3  tried to do that, it's an impossible task, and it

          4  just is silly. So, at this point, my colleagues, let

          5  us do the right thing.

          6                 Let's go back to the drawing table,

          7  let's come up with legislation that repeals this tax

          8  and let's move forward.

          9                 So, I vote no on this issue, and now

         10  Simcha, we're waiting for you.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Felder.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: May I be

         13  excused to explain my vote?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I don't know.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: All right,

         16  then I pass.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I agree

         19  entirely with what many of my colleagues said, but I

         20  don't want to say which colleagues I agree with

         21  entirely.

         22                 But the only thing that I would like

         23  to mention is that the issue about the senior

         24  citizen exemption which has been talked about

         25  repeatedly, even at the end of this meeting now we
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          2  still have no idea --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: It needs

          4  legislation in Albany. We support it. We proposed

          5  it, it's needs legislation in Albany.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm not

          7  blaming anybody.

          8                 Again, it's not a question of blame,

          9  but these taxes that were imposed with the thinking

         10  that at least in some ways those that are neediest,

         11  especially the senior citizens are going to get

         12  their exemptions, we're still leaving another

         13  meeting, no matter whose fault it is, without being

         14  able to say to those people that we're making good

         15  on a commitment that we made.

         16                 I vote yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Announce the

         18  results.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 13 in the

         20  affirmative, two in the negative, no abstentions,

         21  the item is adopted.

         22                 Council Members, please sign the

         23  Committee report if you have not done so.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The record will
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          2  stay open for those members that want to vote within

          3  a reasonable period of time.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 This hearing is now adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 12:47 p.m.)
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